A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. In Anthony Williams' jury trial on charges of Eluding a 

Police Vehicle and the related special allegation of RCW 

9.94A.834, the language of the special verdict relieved the State of 

its Fourteenth Amendment and Washington Constitution Due 

Process burden to prove the "endangerment" element to the jury. 

2. The trial court erred in entering judgment and sentence on 

the 12+ month enhancement of RCW 9.94A.533(11) as required to 

be authorized under RCW 9.94A.834. 

3. The information failed to charge the essential element that 

the defendant "endangered" others, requiring reversal for failure of 

Notice. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The special allegation of RCW 9.94A.834 authorizes a 

12+ month sentence enhancement, and may be filed as a charge 

by the prosecutor whenever there is evidence that the defendant's 

actions in committing the crime of Eluding "threatened" any person 

(except for the defendant or pursuing officer) with injury or harm. 

However, the pertinent statutes explicitly provide that, in 

order for the sentencing court to impose the 12+ month 

enhancement, the jury must have found, beyond a reasonable 
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doubt, that other person(s) were actually "endangered" by the 

defendant's driving actions during the offense. 

In this case, the language of the special verdict only asked 

the jury if the defendant caused others to be "threatened with 

physical injury or harm." The instructions were missing the 

essential element of RCW 9.94A.834(2) that persons were 

endangered by the defendant's actions in Eluding. The State was 

relieved of its burden of proof, creating appealable manifest 

constitutional error. The evidence as to the missing element was 

highly controverted, at trial, in closing argument, and in a lengthy 

directed verdict motion. Should this Court order reversal of the 

judgment entered on the jury's special verdict and vacate the 

enhancement? 

2. The charging information entirely omitted the essential 

element of "endangerment" of RCW 9.94A.834(2), instead merely 

alleging that the defendant's actions "threatened" others. The 

defendant had no notice of the endangerment element. Prejudice 

need not be shown in such instance, but prejudice nonetheless 

appears in the record where the defense did not defend the case at 

trial accordant with the "endangerment" standard, and litigated its 

directed verdict motion on the element under the erroneous 
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"threatened" standard. Should this Court reverse the judgment 

entered on the jury's verdict for lack of constitutionally-required 

notice? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Anthony Williams was charged with Attempting to Elude a 

Police Vehicle, Driving While License Suspended, and Driving 

Under the Influence. CP 65, 78. The Eluding charge was 

accompanied in an amended information by a special allegation of 

threatening harm. CP 65-67. According to the affidavit of probable 

cause, police officer Dickinson exited his patrol car and approached 

Mr. Williams' vehicle on foot, and verbally asked him to stop. A 

high-speed chase ensued, at the end of which the officer used 

several attempts at a PIT maneuver to end the incident, 

subsequently resulting in a crash and damage. CP 100-01. Mr. 

Williams testified at trial that he drove off because it was late at 

night and he did not realize the person walking toward his car was 

a police officer. In addition, he took care to avoid other vehicles as 

he drove. 6/19/12RP at 111-12, 114-15. 

Counsel argued in closing that Mr. Williams drove 

reasonably and not recklessly after mistakenly fearing the officer as 

someone else. 6/19/12 at 146-48, 154. He was acquitted of DU I. 
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CP 41. The jury found Mr. Williams guilty of OWLS, and also on 

the charge of Eluding, and answered "yes" to the RCW 9.94A.834 

special verdict language, which asked: 

Was any person, other than Anthony L. Williams 
or a pursuing law enforcement officer, 
threatened with physical injury or harm by the 
actions of Anthony L. Williams during his 
commission of the crime of attempting to elude 
a police vehicle? 

CP 43; compare RCW 9.94A.834 (requiring jury finding that 

persons "were endangered during the commission of the crime."). 

The court also addressed the defense motion for a directed 

verdict on the special allegation. After again viewing the police car 

camera video footage the jury was shown at trial, and after hearing 

extensive argument of counsel, the court acknowledged that there 

were no passengers, and no persons could be seen to be in 

proximity to the ongoing incident. Nevertheless, the court denied 

the motion because of the appearance of other vehicles in the 

video of the chase. 7/10/12RP at 182-201; Supp. CP _, Sub # 

38 (Exhibit list, Exhibits 3-A and 3-8 (dash cam video OVO's). The 

court therefore imposed the consecutive 12+ month sentence 

enhancement of RCW 9.94A.834, for a total sentence of 

incarceration of 14+ months. 7/1 0/12RP at 204-06; CP 23-33. 
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Mr. Williams, who was out of custody on his own 

recognizance after charging and during trial, asked the court to stay 

imposition of sentence considering his present security-clearance 

level employment with Boeing. 7/1 0/12RP at 207-11; Supp. CP 

_, Sub # 10 (minutes of March 13,2012). The court denied the 

request, but allowed Mr. Williams 30 additional days on 

recognizance, and a postponed custody report date of August 30, 

2012. 7/10/12RP at 207-11. 

Mr. Williams appeals. CP 13-17. He also seeks accelerated 

review pursuant to RAP 18.12. See Motion for Accelerated 

Review. 

D. ARGUMENT 

1. THE SPECIAL VERDICT LANGUAGE RELIEVED 
THE STATE OF ITS BURDEN TO PROVE THAT 
OTHER PERSONS "WERE ENDANGERED" 
DURING MR. WILLIAMS' COMMISSION OF THE 
CRIME OF ELUDING A POLICE VEHICLE. 

a. Manifest constitutional error. The State must prove a 

special allegation beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Tongate, 93 

Wn.2d 751,754-55,613 P.2d 121 (1980). Mr. Williams argues 

herein that the State was relieved of its burden to prove the 

"endangerment" special allegation beyond a reasonable doubt 

because the language of the special verdict form did not require 
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proof of endangerment, as required by RCW 9.94A.834. The 

alleged error is constitutional. See State v. Harris, 164 Wn. App. 

377, 383, 385, 263 P.3d 1276 (2011) (erroneous definition of 

recklessness element relieved State of burden of proving every 

element and was constitutional error); State v. Stein, 144 Wn.2d 

236,240-1, 27 P.3d 184 (2001) (Where trial court's instructions to 

jury could be construed as omitting element of charged offense, 

defendant could challenge error as constitutional). 

The error is also manifest, having "practical and identifiable 

consequences in the trial of the case." State v. Stein, 144 Wn.2d at 

240; see State v. Mills, 154 Wn.2d 1, 6, 109 P.3d 415 (2005) 

(constitutional error of failure to properly require proof of an element 

was "manifest" because jury employs instructional language to 

measure guilt or innocence on the included elements, and review 

was therefore proper despite absence of objection below); State v. 

Roggenkamp, 153 Wn.2d 614, 620,106 P.3d 196 (2005) (failure to 

properly instruct on an element of a charged crime is manifest 

constitutional error which may be raised for the first time on appeal 

under RAP 2.5(a)). In addition, reversal is the presumed outcome. 

State v. Stephens, 93 Wn.2d 186, 190-91,607 P.2d 304 (1980). 

Review may be taken by this Court. RAP 2.5(a)(3). 
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b. The special verdict language relieved the State of its 

burden to prove every fact necessary to imposition of the 

sentence enhancement authorized by RCW 9.94A.834. which 

requires proof that persons were "endangered" during the 

crime. When the term "sentence enhancement" describes an 

increase beyond the authorized sentence for the offense, the 

special allegation becomes the equivalent of an element of a 

greater offense, which must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. 

U.S. Const. amend. 14; State v. Recuenco, 163 Wn.2d 428, 434, 

180 P.3d 1276 (2008). See also State v. Williams-Walker, 167 

Wn.2d 889, 896, 225 P.3d 913 (2010) ("under both the Sixth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, sections 

21 and 22 of the Washington Constitution, the jury trial right 

requires that a sentence be authorized by the jury's verdict."). 

Due Process is the source of the requirement the State of 

Washington must prove all elements of the crime charged beyond a 

reasonable doubt. State v. Aver, 109 Wn.2d 303, 310, 745 P.2d 

479 (1987); U.S. Const. amend. 14. The same standard applies to 

prove a sentencing enhancement. State v. Tongate, supra, at 754 

("Our cases involving other enhanced punishment statutes 

uniformly require proof beyond a reasonable doubt to establish the 
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facts which, if proved, will increase a defendant's penalty"); see 

also State v. Recuenco, supra; State v. Lua, 62 Wn. App. 34, 42, 

813 P.2d 588 (1991 ); see, .e.g., State v. Hennessey, 80 Wn. App. 

190, 194,907 P.2d 331 (1995) (school zone enhancement); State 

v. Simms, 171 Wn.2d 244, 250, 250 P.3d 107 (2011) (any fact that 

increases the penalty beyond that prescribed for the criminal 

offense must be properly proved to jury before imposition of 

punishment). 

Accordingly, Due Process, under both the United States and 

Washington Constitutions, requires that the jury be instructed on 

every essential element. U.S. Const. amend. 14; Wash. Const. art 

1, § 22; Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 316, 99 S.Ct. 2781,61 

L.ed.2d 560 (1979); State v. Brown, 147 Wn.2d 330, 339,58 P.3d 

889 (2002) (a conviction cannot stand if the jury was instructed in a 

manner that would relieve the State of this burden). A defendant 

cannot be said to have had a constitutionally fair trial if the jury 

might assume that an essential element need not be proved . State 

v. Stein, 144 Wn.2d at 241. 

In the present case, the trial court imposed a sentence 

enhancement of 12+ months incarceration, at sentencing following 

the jury's verdicts. CP 23, 7/1 0/12RP at 205-06. The court cited 
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the special allegation of RCW 9.94A.834 and the jury's special 

verdict as authority for the enhancement. 7/1 0/12RP at 185-86, 

204-06. 

The special allegation of RCW 9.94A.834 may be filed as a 

charge by the prosecutor whenever there is evidence that the 

defendant's actions in committing a crime of Eluding "threatened" 

any person (except for the defendant or officer) with physical injury 

or harm. 

RCW 9.94A.834 Special allegation-
Endangerment by eluding a police vehicle
Procedures 

(1) The prosecuting attorney may file a 
special allegation of endangerment by eluding 
in every criminal case involving a charge of 
attempting to elude a police vehicle under 
RCW 46.61.024, when sufficient admissible 
evidence exists, to show that one or more 
persons other than the defendant or the 
pursuing law enforcement officer were 
threatened with physical injury or harm by the 
actions of the person committing the crime of 
attempting to elude a police vehicle. 

(Emphasis added.) RCW 9.94A.834, subsection (1 ).1 However, the 

statute explicitly provides that, in order for the sentencing court to 

1 RCW 9.94A.533(11) authorizes the 12+ month enhancement 
where the jury has found the endangerment allegation: 

(11) An additional twelve months and one day shall 
be added to the standard sentence range for a 
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impose the 12+ months enhancement, the jury must find, beyond a 

reasonable doubt, that other person(s) actually were "endangered" 

by the defendant's driving actions during the crime. 

(2) In a criminal case in which there has been 
a special allegation, the state shall prove 
beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused 
committed the crime while endangering one or 
more persons other than the defendant or the 
pursuing law enforcement officer. The court 
shall make a finding of fact of whether or not 
one or more persons other than the defendant 
or the pursuing law enforcement officer were 
endangered at the time of the commission of 
the crime, or if a jury trial is had, the jury shall, 
if it finds the defendant guilty, also find a 
special verdict as to whether or not one or 
more persons other than the defendant or the 
pursuing law enforcement officer were 
endangered during the commission of the 
crime. 

(Emphasis added.) RCW 9.94A.834, subsection (2). 

In this case, the trial court did not have authority to impose 

the sentence enhancement of 12+ months incarceration. CP 

7/1 0/12RP at 205-06. RCW 9.94A.533(11). The jury in Mr. 

Williams' trial had been asked, 

conviction of attempting to elude a police vehicle as 
defined by RCW 46.61.024, if the conviction 
included a finding by special allegation of 
endangering one or more persons under RCW 
9.94A.834. 

(Emphasis added .) RCW 9.94A.533(11). 
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Was any person, other than Anthony L. Williams 
or a pursuing law enforcement officer, 
threatened with physical injury or harm by the 
actions of Anthony L. Williams during his 
commission of the crime of attempting to elude 
a police vehicle? 

CP 43 (Special Verdict Form 1). However, the plain language of 

the applicable statutes requires proof of "endangerment" of others 

beyond a reasonable doubt before the prescribed sentence 

enhancement may be imposed. RCW 9.94A.834; RCW 

9.94A.533(11 ). 

The jury instructions therefore relieved the State of its 

burden of proof in this case. Jackson v. Virginia, supra, 443 U.S. at 

316; State v. Brown, supra, 147 Wn.2d at 339; see also State v. 

Randhawa, 133 Wn.2d 67, 76, 941 P.2d 661 (1997) (instructions 

that relieve the State's burden of proof violate due process); State 

v. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 306-07,165 P.3d 1241 (2007) 

(instructions that diminish State's burden of proof violate due 

process); County Court of Ulster County v. Allen, 442 U.S. 140, 

156, 99 S.Ct. 2213, 60 L.Ed.2d 777 (1979). 

The State was entirely relieved of its burden of proving 

beyond a reasonable doubt that other persons were "endangered." 
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RCW 9.94A.834(2). Neither the special verdict form, or any other 

instruction, informed the jury that it must find endangerment. Cf. 

State v. DeRyke, 149 Wn.2d 906, 912, 73 P.3d 1000 (2003) (failure 

of to-convict instruction to specify the degree of rape attempted was 

harmless because another instruction did so; therefore, the State 

was not relieved of its burden of proof). Constitutional error 

occurred. 

c. Constitutional error in omitting an element is not 

harmless if any trial evidence on the missing element was 

"controverted." Constitutional error is presumed to be prejudicial, 

requiring reversal. State v. Stephens, supra, 93 Wn.2d 186, 190-

91,607 P.2d 304 (1980) (violation of a defendant's constitutional 

rights is presumed to be prejudicial."); ct. State v. Smith, 131 Wn.2d 

258,265,930 P.2d 917 (1997} ( U[F]ailure to instruct on an element 

of an offense is automatic reversible error."). 

Under Neder and Brown, constitutional instructional error as 

to essential elements requires reversal unless it affirmatively 

appears that the error was harmless, beyond a reasonable doubt. 

State v. Brown, 147 Wn.2d 330, 341,58 P.3d 889 (2002) (citing 

Nederv. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 19, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 

L.Ed.2d 35 (1999)). In the context of a jury instruction that is 
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missing or has misstated an essential element, the error is 

harmless only where the element is supported by uncontroverted 

evidence at trial below. Brown, 147 Wn.2d at 341, citing Neder, 

527 U.S. at 18. 

The record overwhelmingly establishes that any evidence 

pertinent to the missing element was highly controverted below. 

Mr. Williams' counsel cross-examined the police witnesses 

regarding questions of dangerousness of the incident, Mr. Williams' 

testified in his defense, and the parties litigated an extensive post

trial motion to dismiss the special allegation, including with the court 

re-viewing the dash-cam videos and hearing argument as to 

whether physical harm was risked to persons. 6/18/12RP at 51, 

6/19/12RP at 109-16, 7/10/12RP at 182-206. 

Dash-cam video footage from Officer Dickinson's patrol car 

and that of an officer following behind him was admitted. 

6/18/12RP at 46-47; Exhibits 3-A, 3-B. Officer Dickinson believed 

there was danger to vehicles and noted the defendant was driving 

at a "[h]igh rate of speed" with "quick vehicle movements." 

6/18/12RP at 27, 37. Other cars on the road pulled over when they 

saw the patrol car's flashing lights, or saw the two cars coming. 
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6/18/12RP at 39,42. Another vehicle on the road had to "slow 

down significantly to avoid a collision." 6/18/12RP at 38. 

However, Officer Dickinson's only reference to pedestrians 

during the incident was his remark that he and the defendant 

"passed a group of people at about 200th standing on the corner in 

the curb lane[.]" 6/18/12RP at 37. 

Similarly, Officer Molloy, who responded to Officer 

Dickinson's pursuit call and followed his patrol car, could merely 

note that the pursuit went "past stores, restaurants, shopping 

centers." 6/18/12RP at 68. Molloy also noted that Mr. Williams 

slowed down at at least one intersection "to avoid the vehicles that 

were coming through the green light." 6/18/12RP at 66. 

It was also pointed out in the viewing of the video footage 

during the defense motion that Mr. Williams could be seen slowing 

and using his brakes at intersections. 7/10/12RP at 181-82,190-

92. 

The evidence below was highly "controverted," further and 

specifically by the defendant himself. In his testimony, Mr. Williams 

admitted that he "took off' when Officer Dickinson first approached 

his vehicle, stating that he did not realize at first that he was a 

police officer. 6/19/12RP at 109-10. He had just dropped a friend 
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off to whom he had given a ride when the officer appeared, and Mr. 

Williams was scared of him. 6/19/12RP at 110-13. Mr. Williams 

merely "proceeded" to drive off, and then did not pull over because 

there was no safe place to do so. 6/19/12RP at 111-12, 114. He 

admitted that cars pulled away during the incident, but specifically 

testified that he "kept going straight" as he drove, and he avoided 

other cars that were driving in the area. 6/19/12RP at 110-11, 115. 

Since it was nighttime, Mr. Williams properly had his headlights on. 

6/19/12RP at 116.2 

Accordingly, in closing argument, defense counsel 

contended that there was inadequate proof that Mr. Williams drove 

in a reckless manner or caused risk. 6/19/12RP at 146-47. 

Arguing that Mr. Williams had "taken off' because it was nighttime 

and he did not realize that it was a police officer approaching him 

on foot, counsel specifically noted how the officer and the video 

established that Mr. Williams used his brakes and slowed down to 

allow vehicles in intersections to pass. 6/19/12RP at 147-48. As 

counsel argued, 

2 Mr. Williams also stated that his driving was not impaired by 
alcohol. 6/19/12RP at 118. The jury acquitted him on the Driving Under 
the Influence charge. CP 41 (Verdict Form C - Not Guilty). 
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To me, ladies and gentlemen, that doesn't come up to 
the level of someone who has disregard for the safety 
of others or the consequences. 

6/19/12RP at 148. Counsel continued to controvert the State's 

charges through the remainder of closing argument, arguing that 

Mr. Williams drove in a reasonable manner, avoiding harm, and 

asking the jury to find the defendant guilty of driving with a 

suspended license, but not guilty on all the other State's 

accusations. 6/19/12RP at 148-49, 155. 

The error was not harmless where the missing element was 

not supported by uncontroverted evidence. Brown, 147 Wn.2d at 

341 ) (reversal required unless uncontroverted evidence supported 

missing element and error was shown to be harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt) (citing Neder, 527 U.S. at 18). The dictated 

remedy is reversal, and additionally Mr. Williams contends that the 

sentencing enhancement must be vacated and dismissed. State v. 

Pierce, 155 Wn. App. 701, 714-15, 230 P.3d 237 (2010) (reversing 

and dismissing firearm enhancement where, inter alia, jury was 

relieved of its burden to prove an operable firearm) (citing State v. 

Williams-Walker, supra) (sentencing court violates defendant's 

right to jury trial if it imposes a firearm enhancement without a jury 

authorizing the enhancement by explicitly finding that, beyond a 
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reasonable doubt, the defendant committed the offense while so 

armed). 

2. REVERSAL IS REQUIRED WHERE THE 
CHARGING DOCUMENT OMITTED THE 
ESSENTIAL "ENDANGERED" ELEMENT. 

All essential elements of a crime, including sentencing 

enhancements, must be alleged in the information. State v. 

Recuenco, supra, 163 Wn.2d 428, 434, 180 P.3d 1276 (2008); 

State v. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93, 97, 812 P .2d 86 (1991); CrR 

2.1 (a)(1); U.S. Const. amend. 6; Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. "The 

purpose of the essential elements rule is to provide defendants with 

notice of the crime charged and to allow defendants to prepare a 

defense." Recuenco, 163 Wn.2d at 434 .

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