69131-7

69131-7

NO. 69131-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OFTHE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent

٧.

ANTHONY L. WILLIAMS,

Appellant

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

KATHLEEN WEBBER Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent COURT OF PRESS DIV I STATE OF PRESS DIV I 2013 APR 12 PH 1: 34

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

(2) In a criminal case in which there has been a special allegation, the state shall prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused committed the crime while endangering one or more persons other

than the defendant or the pursuing law enforcement officer. The court shall make a finding of fact of whether or not one or more persons other than the defendant or the pursuing law enforcement officer were endangered at the time of the commission of the crime, or if a jury trial is had, the jury shall, if it finds the defendant guilty, also find a special verdict as to whether or not one or more persons other than the defendant or the pursuing law enforcement officer were endangered during the commission of the crime.

The defendant alleges that an essential element of the aggravating circumstance was that someone other than the defendant or the pursuing law enforcement officer was "endangered." He argues the allegation that someone other than those involved in the pursuit was "threatened with physical injury or harm." was insufficient. BOA at 17.

The defendant challenges the Information for the first time on appeal. Under that circumstance the Court will liberally construe the charging document in favor of validity. <u>State v Kjorsvik</u>, 117 Wn.2d 93, 102, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). A challenge to the an Information will be upheld (1) if the necessary facts appear in any form, or by fair construction can be found in the charging document and (2) the defendant does not show that he was actually prejudiced by the inartful language which caused a lack of notice. Id. at 105-106. The court reads the Information as a whole, in a

commonsense manner. <u>State v. Nonog</u>, 169 Wn.2d 220, 227, 237 P.3d 250 (2010).

An Information does not omit an element of the offense simply because it is not written in the exact language of the statute. <u>Kjorsvick</u>, 17 Wn.2d at 108. An Information is sufficient if it conveys the same meaning and import. <u>Id</u>. In <u>Kjorsvick</u> the defendant was charged with Robbery. The Information did not specifically allege the non-statutory element of "intent to steal". However the Information was held to be sufficient because it alleged the defendant "unlawfully, with force, and against [the victim's] will, took the money while armed with a deadly weapon." Considering this language as a whole the Court commented that it was hard to imagine the defendant could have done what was alleged without the intent to steal the money. <u>Id</u>.

The statute uses both the phrase "threaten with physical injury or harm" and "endangered" to describe the circumstance that aggravates an attempting to elude a police vehicle charge. The former relate to the evidentiary sufficiency to charge while the latter is used in connection with the evidentiary sufficiency to convict. Underlying the defendant's arguments is the unstated assertion that these two descriptions mean different things. In order to determine

whether that premise is true the Court must analyze the statute. A fair construction of the statute does not support the defendant position.

The objective of statutory interpretation is to give effect to the Legislature's intent. <u>State v. Tracy</u>, 128 Wn. App. 388, 395, 115 P.3d 831 (2005), <u>affirmed</u>, 158 Wn.2d 683, 147 P.3d 559 (2006). The Court will give effect to the statute's plain meaning if that plain meaning is apparent on its face. <u>Id.</u> The plain meaning of the statute is derived from the wording of the statute itself, as well as from related statutes disclosing legislative intent about the particular statute in question. <u>State Department of Ecology v.</u> <u>Campbell & Gwinn, LLC</u>, 146 Wn.2d 1, 11-12, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). Terms which are not defined by statute are given their plain and ordinary meaning unless a contrary legislative intent is indicated. State v. Jones, 172 Wn.2d 236, 242, 257 P.3d 616 (2011).

If after reviewing the statute under these principles it may be susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation then it is ambiguous. <u>Id</u>. Under those circumstances the court may resort to "statutory construction, legislative history, and relevant case law for assistance in discerning legislative intent." <u>Id</u>. quoting <u>Christensen</u> <u>v. Ellsworth</u>, 162 Wn.2d 365, 373, 173 P.3d 228 (2007).

Here, the defendant does not explain how "threatened with physical injury or harm" differs in any meaningful way from acting in a manner which "endangered" others. The terms are not specifically defined by the statute. To discern the common and ordinary meaning of those terms the Court may look to dictionaries. State v. Johnson, 159 Wn. App. 766, 770, 247 P.3d 11 (2011). Various dictionaries have used each term to define the other. One definition of endanger is "to bring into danger or peril of probable harm or loss: imperil or threaten danger to." Webster's Third New International Dictionary, unabridged, 748 (2002). It has also been defined as "to expose to danger or harm; imperil." The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language, 431 (1978). Threat is defined as "an indication of something impending and usually undesirable or unpleasant." Webster's Third New International Dictionary, unabridged 2382 (2002). "Threaten" has also been defined as "to serve as a threat to; endanger; menace" and "to indicate danger or other harm." The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language 1340 (1978). These various definitions show that "to endanger" another is essentially the same as "to threaten danger or harm" to another.

The act adopting the enhancement was known as the Guillarmo "Bobby" Aguilar and Edgar Trevino-Mendoza public safety act of 2008. Laws of Washington 2008 Ch. 219, §1. Bobby Agular and Edgar Trevino-Mendoza were killed in a collision with a car driven by Blake Young after he attempted to elude a pursuing police officer. State v. Young, 158 Wn App. 707, 243 P.3d 172 (2010), review denied, 171 Wn.2d 1013, 249 P.3d 1029 (2011). This history shows the legislative intent was to enhance the penalty for eluding a pursuing police officer when the offender's conduct threatened or endangered the safety or lives of others who were truly innocent bystanders. The use of the terminology "threaten with physical harm or injury" and "endanger" are meant to convey the same concept: an offender who puts innocent bystanders at risk of being hurt are going to face stiffer penalties when the offender has committed the crime of eluding a pursuing police vehicle than when no innocent bystanders are at risk.

Analyzing the statute in the context of related provisions also supports the conclusion that the terms are meant to convey the same thing. The enhancement is specific to attempting to elude charges. Under that statute the State must prove the defendant was driving "in a reckless manner." RCW 46.61.024. Reckless

manner in the context of the eluding statute means "a rash or heedless manner, with indifference to the consequences." <u>State v.</u> <u>Naillieux</u>, 158 Wn. App. 630, 644, 241 P.3d 1280 (2010). In the context of the eluding statute to "endanger" others is to present a "threat of physical injury or harm" because either term reflects a risk of damage to third persons or property as a result of the defendant's indifference to the consequences of his acts.

The plain meaning of the statute indicates the terms are interchangeable. Thus, the Information did not leave out an essential element of the enhancement by describing the aggravating conduct in terms of "threaten with physical injury or harm" instead of "endangered."

Although it is difficult to conceive how these terms may be susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation in the context of the statute in which they are used, if the Court finds the statute ambiguous then rules of statutory construction support the conclusion that the two terms are meant to convey the same concept. When construing a statute the court will read the statute so as to avoid an absurd result "because it will not be presumed that the legislature intended absurd results." <u>State v. J.P.</u>, 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003).

As noted the terms at issue are used to describe both the evidentiary sufficiency to support charging the enhancement and the evidentiary sufficiency to prove the enhancement. The Legislative guidelines for charging sufficiency state that the prosecutor should charge if the admissible evidence is of such convincing force to make it probable that a reasonable and objective fact finder would convict after hearing all the evidence and the most plausible defense raised. RCW 9.94A.411(2)(a). If the terms meant different things then the charging standards would be meaningless. If there was sufficient evidence to prove the "threat", but not sufficient evidence to prove "endangerment," the charge may be filed despite the statutory requirements. Alternatively, a charge may not be filed because there was not enough evidence to believe the driving constituted a "threat of physical harm or injury" even though there was sufficient evidence to believe the driving "endangered" others. The only way to reconcile this conflict is to construe the terms as meaning the same thing.

Because the Information was charged in the language of the statute defining the enhancement the court need not conduct an inquiry into whether the elements of the enhancement may be discerned from the language of the Information by fair construction.

However, should the court conclude the terms mean different things, and the aggravating circumstance was whether someone was "endangered" that can be discerned from the Information by fair construction of that document. A threat of physical injury or harm of another and endangering others both convey a risk of harm. Thus, the Information was sufficient to inform the defendant of the aggravating circumstance charged.

Finally, the defendant argues that he need not show prejudice because the element of the aggravating circumstance is not in the Information in any form, relying on <u>State v. Zillyette</u>, 173 Wn.2d 784, 786, 270 P.3d 589 (2012) and <u>State v. Marcum</u>, 116 Wn. App. 526, 536, 66 P.3d 690 (2003). Since the element of the aggravating circumstance is in the Information he must show prejudice. <u>Kjorsvick</u>, 117 Wn.2d at 106.

In <u>Kjorsvick</u> the Court concluded the defendant had not shown prejudice as a result of the charging language because it did not impact the chosen defense. <u>Id</u>. at 111. Here the defendant asserted the affirmative defense that at first he did not know it was an officer that was directing him to pull over. When he realized it was a police officer behind him he claimed that he was unfamiliar with the area and could find no reasonable place to pull over until

he crashed his car. 1 RP 108-110, 145-148. The defense never addressed the sufficiency of the evidence on the aggravating circumstance until sentencing when defense counsel urged the court not to impose the enhancement because the evidence did not warrant it. The basis for the argument did not rest on any distinction between a threat and endangerment, but rather that no one was present to be threatened or endangered. To the extent counsel argued the term "threat of harm" it was in regard to the defendant's mental state, not the result of his conduct to others. 1 RP 183-84, 191-95.

In no way did the wording of the Information alter the defense. The defendant fails to show he was prejudiced. The defendant nonetheless argues that it prejudiced him because he did not defend himself in accordance with whether he "endangered" anyone. That makes no difference in a case such as this where the defense presented had nothing to do with the aggravating factor except insofar as it would result in the jury not reaching the question had the jury accepted the affirmative defense.

B. THE DEFENDANT FAILED TO PRESERVE ALLEGED ERROR IN JURY INSTRUCTIONS FOR REVIEW. THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS DID NOT LEAVE OUT AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE. IF ERROR DID OCCUR IT WAS HARMLESS.

The defendant also argues the special verdict form failed to include the essential element that his conduct "endangered" someone other than himself or the pursing police officer. He did not challenge the special verdict form at trial. He argues that it constitutes a manifest constitutional error under RAP 2.5(a) which entitles him to raise the issue for the first time on appeal.

Whether the Court will review a claim of error in jury instructions that had not been raised in the trial court is depends on whether the error is manifest constitutional error. <u>State v. O'Hara</u>, 167 Wn.2d 91, 100, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). "Manifest" requires the defendant to show actual prejudice. <u>Id</u>. Actual prejudice is established when the defendant makes a plausible showing that the asserted error has a practical and identifiable consequence in the trial of the case. <u>State v. Kirkman</u>, 159 Wn.2d 918, 935, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). "The focus of actual prejudice must be on whether the error is so obvious on the record that the error warrants appellate review." O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 99-100.

Where the instruction allows the jury to convict the defendant without finding an essential element of the crime charged the State has been relieved of its burden of proof. <u>State v. Stein</u>, 144 Wn.2d 236, 241, 27 P.3d 184 (2001). Due Process requires the State to prove every element of the charge beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Smith</u>, 155 Wn.2d 496, 502, 120 P.3d 559 (2005). Other than the fact of prior conviction, those considerations applies to sentencing enhancements as well. <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466, 488, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000). Because the defendant claims the special verdict form relieved the State of the burden to prove the special circumstances, he has identified an issue of constitutional magnitude.

However the defendant fails to make any showing that the error was "manifest." Other than pointing out the differences in the language used in the statute, he completely ignores his duty to make a plausible showing that the claimed error had any identifiable consequence at trial. Key to this is the defendant's failure to discuss how in the context of the statute "threaten physical injury or harm" differs in any meaningful way from "endangered."

If the Court does review this assignment of error then it should conclude that the jury instructions were correct. As argued in section I.A. above the phrase and the word are two terms used to mean the same thing. The special verdict form was the standard instruction approved by the WPIC committee. See WPIC 190.12. Although pattern instructions are not immune from attack, the Court has some confidence that they usually are a correct statement of the law. "[P]attern instructions generally have the advantage of thoughtful adoption and provide some uniformity in instructions throughout the state." <u>State v. Bennett</u>, 161 Wn.2d 303, 308, 165 P.3d 1249 (2007).

The court does have discretion in how jury instructions are worded. <u>State v. Dana</u>, 73 Wn.2d 533, 536, 439 P.2d 403 (1968). The language adopted by the court and the WPIC committee reflects the theory that jury instructions should be written in language that is most familiar to lay people serving as jurors. See Tiersma, <u>Communicating with Juries: How to Draft More</u> <u>Understandable Jury Instructions</u> (2009).¹ The phrase "threatened physical injury or harm" is more descriptive, and likely more commonly understood than "endangered". Because they meant

the same thing in the context of this particular aggravating circumstance, the court did not abuse its discretion by adopting the language used in the pattern instruction for the special verdict form.

However, if the Court concludes it was error to use the pattern verdict form, then any error was harmless. "Not every omission or misstatement in a jury instruction relieves the State of its burden." <u>State v. Brown</u>, 147 Wn.2d 330, 339, 58 P.3d 889 (2002). Where an element has been omitted or misstated in a jury instruction the Supreme Court has adopted the rule for harmless error set out in <u>Neder v. United States</u>, 527 U.S. 1, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999). Error in jury instructions that omit or misstate an element of the offense is harmless if that element is supported by uncontroverted evidence <u>Brown</u>, 147 Wn.2d at 341, citing <u>Neder</u>, 527 U.S. at 18.

The defendant argues that the error is not harmless because whether he endangered anyone was "highly controverted." BOA at 13. The record does not support this statement. The defendant points to Officer Dickenson's testimony describing the defendant crashing and bailing out of his car. 1 RP 51. He also points to his own testimony. However the defendant's testimony focused on the

¹available at <u>http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1507298</u>

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